

## INNER STRUGGLES

Royal Air Force Edition

JOHN PHILLIPS

#### © John Phillips

#### First Edition May 2015

Royal Air Force Edition January 2025
Published by BeaconLight Trust in partnership
with NMBS (Naval & Military Bible Society)

BeaconLight Trust 150 High Street, Banstead, Surrey, SM7 2NZ, United Kingdom

Email: books@beaconlight.co.uk

ISBN 978-1-906526-64-1

Design: Mel Dixey

Cover design: Paul Adams and Ben Desmond Cover photograph supplied by NMBS. Photographer SAC Mark Dixon. Crown Copyright licensed under the Open Government Licence v3.0.

John Phillips has asserted his right under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, to be identified as the author of this work.

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form without prior written permission from BeaconLight Trust.

Except where otherwise stated, all Scripture quotations are taken from the Holy Bible, New International Version®, NIV®. Copyright © 1973, 1978, 1984, 2011 by Biblica, Inc.™ Used by permission of Zondervan. All rights reserved worldwide. www.zondervan.com. The 'NIV' and 'New International Version' are trademarks registered in the United States Patent and Trademark Office by Biblica, Inc.™ Scripture quotations marked (NLT) are taken from the Holy Bible, New Living Translation, copyright ©1996, 2004, 2007, 2013 by Tyndale House Foundation. Used by

permission of Tyndale House Publishers, Inc., Carol Stream, Illinois 60188. All rights reserved.

#### **Foreword**

As a Harrier Pilot, with two operational tours under my belt, I didn't want to know anything about Jesus. My wife and her Christian friends spoke about Him with great excitement, and I accepted that Christian faith made sense to them. But for me, I was well trained, self-sufficient and ready to face anything! I did not need Jesus

For my next tour, at short notice, I was sent to fly with the US Marine Corps. Soon, I was qualified to fly with VMA-542, an AV8-B Harrier squadron, and looking forward to a couple of years of operating in the USA. A month later, Kuwait was invaded. Within a few weeks I was in Saudi Arabia, for what turned out to be a 7½ month deployment, waiting for the first Gulf War to start.

During the three months we spent sitting in the desert, someone gave me a US Navy pocket New Testament. Although I wasn't particularly interested in 'religious' things, I felt I should look at it. Initially, reading it like a book didn't seem to work, but when I dipped into the pages, the words became alive.

It soon dawned on me that whilst I was well trained and able to complete my duties well, in my wider life I fell well short of what was God's best for me. Accepting Jesus into my life, for me to have 'help from above', just seemed a natural thing to do. Thank God that I made that decision!

Flying in the Gulf War, and my subsequent career, is littered with many occasions when the difference between life and death has been inches or seconds. I believe the protection, that trusting in God has given me, is why I am here today able to write this foreword.

In 2018, I told my church friends that I needed a new job; one that had a connection with my RAF history and with my Christian experience. We prayed about it. The next day, the chairman of the Naval & Military Bible Society rang me and asked if I would interview for the role of their director. That was something I couldn't ignore!

NMBS's core role is to provide Bibles to military personnel and cadets in the UK, and seafarers around the world. But we are also keen to distribute quality resources that explain what the Bible says. BeaconLight's *Inner Struggles* is one such book. NMBS has worked with BeaconLight to adapt it for military and seafaring environments.

Inner Struggles is simple in its approach, an alphabetical list of some of the struggles we may face, with scripture, discussion and prayers pertinent to each struggle. This RAF edition completes the process of turning the initial generic 'Military' version into a series of editions tailored for each Service, with testimonies pertinent to these different environments.

My journey to knowing Jesus might have been much quicker if I had had access to a copy of *Inner Struggles*!

Wing Commander (Retired) Andrew Dakin OBE
Executive Director, NMBS (Naval & Military Bible Society)
January 2025

#### **Preface**

Life is a mixture of happiness and pain; of laughter and tears; of celebration and grief; of soaring and crawling. For some, life brings more joy than sorrow; for others, life is hard with only rare moments of real joy. For us all, there are times when we struggle.

Sadly, our struggles can be the result of our own mistakes and unwise choices but often that is not the case; they may simply be the result of life's circumstances over which we have no control

Whatever the circumstances of your own struggles, I hope that you will find comfort and help in this book. It shows us how we can draw strength from a relationship with God and through reading the Bible, which is His inspired word to us.

If you are unfamiliar with the Christian faith, I trust that this book will encourage you to explore what it means to have a personal relationship with Jesus.

God longs that every one of us might know Him personally as His child, as we journey through both the joyful and the sad seasons of life.

I pray that God will use this book to encourage you to look to Him and trust Him at all times, whatever your circumstances and whatever your struggles.

#### **Royal Air Force Edition**

It has been a great privilege to have the Navy & Military Bible Society as partners with us in producing this RAF edition.

I do trust that it will prove to be a valuable resource for chaplains as they provide spiritual and pastoral support to RAF personnel.

#### **Acknowledgements**

Inner Struggles was first published in May 2015 with the help and encouragement of many friends, notably Monica Farthing and Barbara Parsons (editing), Mel Dixey (design and text layout), Nicola Goddard (proofreading) and Dr Paul Adams, Executive Chair, BeaconLight Trust, whose encouragement and wisdom were immensely valuable. I am grateful to them all.

Val Hall of the Armed Forces' Christian Union has been especially helpful in resourcing testimonies for all the armed forces editions. I am grateful to her and to all who have willingly contributed their testimony.

#### **John Phillips**

January 2025

#### **Contents**

#### **Inner Struggles**

Abandoned	12
Angry	14
Anxious	16
Ashamed	18
Condemned	20
Crushed	22
Despairing	28
Discouraged	30
Distressed	32
Empty	34
Enslaved	36
Grieving	42
Guilt-ridden	44
Hungry	46
Insecure	48
Insulted	50
Isolated	56
Peace, Hope, Joy	58

Lonely	62
Lost	64
Maligned	66
Oppressed	68
Overwhelmed	74
Rejected	76
Restless	78
Scared	80
Sinking	82
Troubled	92
Unloved	94
Unworthy	96
Weak	98
Weary	100
Worried	102
Worthless	104
Our Biggest Struggle	107
Prayer	117
Psalms	137

## INNER STRUGGLES

## ABANDONED?

#### In the Psalms we read:

Those who know your name trust in you, for you, O LORD, do not abandon those who search for you.

Psalm 9:10 (NLT)

Even if my father and mother abandon me, the LORD will hold me close.

Psalm 27:10 (NLT)

To be abandoned by a partner or long-term friend, or even your parents, is truly devastating. We often take it for granted that those whom we have trusted over many years will always stick by us.

Jesus knows what it means to be abandoned. He was abandoned by His closest disciples, hours before His arrest and trial. The Bible tells us that Jesus' soul was overwhelmed with sorrow. Twice He discovered His disciples asleep, after He had asked them to keep watch while He spent time alone to pray.

The following day, one of those disciples, Peter, repeatedly denied that he knew Jesus, just as Jesus said he would. At the time when Jesus most needed their support, the disciples abandoned Him.

Unlike His disciples and unlike anyone else, Jesus will always remain faithful to everyone who seeks Him and chooses to follow Him. He will never abandon them. No one could want a better friend, not only for this life but for ever.

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I feel as though I have been abandoned and I need someone who, I know for certain, will always be there for me. Please help me to understand how I can know Jesus.



#### The Apostle Paul wrote:

'In your anger do not sin': do not let the sun go down while you are still angry...

Ephesians 4:26

Anger is a very powerful emotion. At times it is right to be angry: for example, at the widespread injustice in the world, especially the abuse of the poor and vulnerable by those who hold power.

Usually, however, our anger is self-centred: either we are expressing our own feelings of frustration and failure or we are venting our feelings to someone who has hurt us.

The Apostle Paul gives us two instructions. Firstly, he warns us against failing to control our anger: it can so easily cause us to act unwisely, perhaps by taking revenge against a person.

Secondly, Paul tells us not to hold on to anger, for it can quickly lead to deep-seated resentment and bitterness, which can linger, so painfully, for weeks, months and even years.

If there is someone with whom you are angry, why not ask God to help you to forgive the person? Why not decide now to release that person – and yourself – from your anger?

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I realise that my anger has become such a part of my life and I do not want it any longer. Please help me to put this incident behind me – forever. Please help me to forgive (the person's name).

## ANXIOUS?

#### The Apostle Paul wrote:

Do not be anxious about anything, but in every situation, by prayer and petition, with thanksgiving, present your requests to God. And the peace of God, which transcends all understanding, will guard your hearts and your minds in Christ Jesus.

Philippians 4:6-7

Nothing can bring greater joy than knowing Jesus. For this reason, Paul had just told the Christians in Philippi that they should always rejoice.

But Paul realises that there is one thing, above all else, which can rob people of their joy – anxiety. It can be so destructive. When we are anxious we feel as though we are carrying a great burden. We do not want to put it down or allow anyone to take it from us: we hold on to it tightly.

Paul's instruction is very clear: in every situation – whatever the circumstances – we should ask God to help us with the burden we are carrying.

There is no promise that the cause of the anxiety will be immediately resolved. However, we can expect God to protect our hearts and minds with His peace.

When anxiety comes, what do you do? Do you keep it to yourself, perhaps until it becomes just unbearable? Paul's advice is the much better option.

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I do get anxious over all sorts of issues. Even now, I am anxious about (*explain the anxiety*). Please show me how to deal with this and please guard my heart and mind with Your peace.

## ASHAMED?

#### The Apostle Paul wrote:

... if you declare with your mouth, 'Jesus is Lord,' and believe in your heart that God raised him from the dead, you will be saved.

As Scripture says, 'Anyone who believes in him will never be put to shame.'

Romans 10:9,11

Jesus encountered two women who had reason to be ashamed. One was a Samaritan whom He met as she was drawing water at a well. Jesus knew that she had had five husbands and was now living with another man.<sup>1</sup>

Jesus met the other woman when she intruded on a dinner party at which He was a guest. She was well known as a woman of 'ill-repute'. As she anointed Jesus' feet with an expensive perfume, she wept: no doubt, her tears were tears of shame.<sup>2</sup>

Jesus did not condemn either woman. He spoke to them with gentleness and kindness. And they responded to Him, knowing that they had been forgiven and could put their shame behind them.

If you are struggling with shame, whether you have managed to hide it from others or whether it is in the open, why not bring it to Jesus? He already knows about it and is ready to receive you and forgive you.

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I have done things of which I am ashamed, especially (name the things which are causing the shame). I realise that they have never been hidden from You. Please forgive me and please release me from my shame.

## CONDEMNED?

#### The Apostle Paul wrote:

Therefore, there is now no condemnation for those who are in Christ Jesus...

Romans 8:1

#### **King David wrote:**

The LORD will rescue his servants; no one who takes refuge in him will be condemned.

Psalm 34:22

The world is eager to condemn but God is eager to forgive. And it is God's forgiveness that really counts, for that secures our future with Him – for eternity.

We all deserve God's condemnation because we have all failed to meet His standards. But God is full of mercy and does not want to condemn us. He sent His Son, Jesus, to take the punishment which we deserve. Jesus did that when He was condemned to death in our place.

But to avoid God's condemnation, we have to choose to receive His forgiveness; we have to be 'in Christ', believing that Jesus died in our place and deciding to follow Him.

Try not to worry about other people judging you and condemning you. What is crucial is being sure that God will not condemn you. If you have never asked God to forgive you, will you do so now? What is involved is fully explained on pages 108-115.

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I understand the choice I have to make. I turn to Jesus Christ now. I know that He has taken my punishment so that You will forgive me and not condemn me. Thank You.

## CRUSHED?

#### **King David wrote:**

The righteous cry out, and the LORD hears them; he delivers them from all their troubles.

The LORD is close to the broken-hearted and saves those who are crushed in spirit.

Psalm 34:17-18

David wrote many Psalms in order to pour out his deepest feelings to God. There were times when he was compelled to pour out his thanks and praise to Him for all His goodness.

At other times, he was in a really difficult situation and could see no way out: he felt crushed by his circumstances. Yet even in those very dark times, he knew that God had not deserted him.

Jesus Himself chose to engage with those who most needed Him: those whom society looked to crush. It was not that others did not need Jesus: they were just too blind to see their need. The religious leaders were especially critical of Jesus. They taunted Him as being a 'friend of sinners'.

No one, whatever their status in society, could ask for a better friend than Jesus, the Son of God. If you feel crushed or broken, turn to God. Allow Him to come alongside you and restore you.

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I do feel crushed and I cannot see any way out of my situation. I have tried just about everything. I do not know what else I can do. God, please help me, please restore me.

### **Rob's Story**

On my 5th deployment to Afghanistan as a Chinook pilot, we were tasked with moving building material for a new patrol base. The current base had a ring of Improvised Explosive Devices (IEDs) around it; patrolling it was extremely hazardous. The mission was to move the base about a mile to minimise the risk to those on patrols.

We were constantly reminded that it would be a dangerous operation and under no circumstances were we to drop a load after sunrise. A British soldier was shot dead in that field, just the day before we were due to drop a load.

Before first light, we flew to the old patrol base. After picking up our underslung load and now in hover, we were told to hold off, as there had been some 'activity' on the landing site. It emerged that the Taliban had spotted us and planned to take out our Chinook, which they called 'the fat cow'.

... the Taliban ... planned to take out our Chinook ...

It was a scary situation for us all, and more so for the other crew members who didn't share my faith. But they always wanted me to pray for God's protection. Daylight was fast approaching when we finally received the instruction from one of our Commanders over the radio, 'Continue as planned. I'm happy with the risk.' It immediately prompted the quip from one of the crew, 'He might be happy with the risk, but we're the ones actually taking the risk!'

Having prayed for the Lord's protection, I assured the guys that we had angels surrounding us to keep us safe and there would be no excitement. And I was right; it turned out to be the most uneventful of missions during my time in Afghanistan. I had put my confidence, my trust and hope in God and He delivered us from the 'fowler's snare' and 'the arrow that flies by day'.

# ... it turned out to be the most uneventful of missions ...

### **Duncan's Story**

In 2003, after 12 years in the RAF, mostly as a navigator on the Nimrod MR2, I sensed that God was calling our family to serve Him overseas. For six years I served with a mission agency in Cambodia, and then for eight years as their Finance Director in the UK.

Being a quite driven character type, I pushed myself hard, wanting to be a faithful follower of Jesus. Unfortunately, in 2020 this led to symptoms of burnout, including chronic insomnia, with the result that I suffered from depression and anxiety. In addition, our two daughters struggled to adjust to the cross-cultural transitions. Although much improved, they are still bearing scars.

I continue to suffer some of the effects of burnout and I realise that I may never fully recover. We know that God's journey for us can lead us to hard places, but I often question why serving Him has left me feeling so damaged. I am only now realising how fragile I am, how easily broken. I can now see that I've been too self-reliant, not relying on God. I've been trying to earn His favour and acceptance instead of receiving His grace and love.

## I am only now realising how fragile I am ...

These Bible verses have helped me: 'Trust in the Lord with all your heart and lean not on your own understanding; in all your ways submit to him, and he will make your paths straight'. I am beginning to trust God in the difficult times, to accept that He really is good and will carry us through whatever life throws at us. He is our only certain hope in our struggles.

## He (God) is our only certain hope in our struggles.

We have to acknowledge that this world is messed up. I look forward to the day when Jesus returns. The Bible tells us that there will be a new heaven and a new earth and there will be no more death or mourning or crying or pain.<sup>2</sup>

## DESPAIRING?

#### The Apostle Paul wrote:

We are hard pressed on every side, but not crushed; perplexed, but not in despair;

2 Corinthians 4:8

May the God of hope fill you with all joy and peace as you trust in him, so that you may overflow with hope by the power of the Holy Spirit.

Romans 15:13

When we are on the brink of despairing, it is natural to want to cling on to the hope that there might be 'light at the end of the tunnel'. But if we cannot see the end of the tunnel, our hope can so easily begin to slip away.

As we lose hope, despair will often take its place. We may begin to imagine the worst possible outcomes to the situation we are facing. That can be exceptionally draining – and painful.

The Apostle Paul suffered both physically and mentally. At various times he was whipped, stoned and imprisoned; he experienced rejection, injustice and abuse. And yet his trust in 'the God of hope' meant that he never reached the point of despairing.

For Paul, hope did not simply mean wishful thinking; rather, it was an absolute confidence that God would not fail him. Today, Christians have that same hope, a hope which will never give way to despair.

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I know that I am losing hope. I cannot face the prospect of being in utter despair. Please help me to put my trust in You, so that my hope is restored and I find peace with You.

## DISCOURAGED?

#### God's words to Joshua:

"...Have I not commanded you? Be strong and courageous. Do not be afraid; do not be discouraged, for the LORD your God will be with you wherever you go."

Joshua 1:9

Discouragement has been spoken of as a disease. If we think of it in that way, then it must be the most common of all diseases. We have all suffered from it and we will always be at risk of being 'infected' again: a discouraged person can quickly discourage others.

We can become discouraged when we fail to achieve our objectives or meet unexpected obstacles. We can also become discouraged by our fear of failure or by criticism from others.

After Moses had died, God knew the enormous responsibility which Joshua would be taking on as leader of the Israelites. He encouraged Joshua with the promise that He would always be

with him. With that promise, Joshua could be strong and courageous and not be afraid or get discouraged.

If you are facing discouragement, why not ask God to help you to be strong and courageous? If you are trusting in Him, then that promise to Joshua is for you also.

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

You know how discouraged I am because of the difficulties I am facing and the criticism I am getting. Thank You for always being with me. Please take away my fear and help me to be strong, giving me the courage I need to move forward.

## DISTRESSED?

#### **Words of Jesus:**

He took Peter, James and John along with him, and he began to be deeply distressed and troubled. 'My soul is overwhelmed with sorrow to the point of death,' he said to them. 'Stay here and keep watch.'

Mark 14:33-34

We must never think that, because Jesus was God, He was immune from suffering and trouble when He lived on earth. He was both God and Man and He experienced all the emotions that we experience.

So it was right that He was deeply distressed shortly before He was to be arrested. He cried out to his Father, 'Please take this cup of suffering away from me. Yet I want your will to be done, not mine.' Jesus knew the horrendous suffering which the crucifixion would bring but He was willing to obey God's wishes.

Jesus provides that supreme example for us to follow when we are distressed. Often, the only thing we can do is pray. It is always the best thing.

Are you in deep distress over something? If you have not yet prayed, do so now. Your prayer will be heard by Jesus Himself, now at God's right hand. He knows exactly how you are feeling.

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

It is comforting to know that You understand exactly how distressed I am. Everything is possible for You. Please (*make your personal request*). Please help me to accept whatever is Your will and give me the strength I need.

## EMPTY?

#### The Apostle Peter wrote:

For you know that God paid a ransom to save you from the empty life you inherited from your ancestors.

And it was not paid with mere gold or silver, which lose their value. It was the precious blood of Christ, the sinless, spotless Lamb of God.

1 Peter 1:18-19 (NLT)

Even people with busy lives may complain that their life is empty. Despite being so busy – and perhaps too busy – they recognise that something is missing: they are not being fulfilled.

Although wealthy and powerful, King Solomon, the son of King David, experienced that sense of emptiness. He was renowned for his great wisdom and he concluded that life is 'meaningless, a chasing after the wind.'

About 1,000 years later, the Apostle Peter reminded the Christians that Jesus had saved them from their empty way of life. And Jesus Himself said that He had come in order that people might have life to the full.<sup>2</sup>

If you feel your life is empty of meaning, do not try to fill it with pleasures or possessions. They will fail to satisfy you. Instead, look to Jesus. Only He can meet your deepest needs. Only He can bring real meaning to your life – a life that is full and satisfying.

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I know my life is empty of meaning and purpose. If Jesus came to earth to give people life that is truly satisfying, then I need to understand what it means to have Jesus in my life. Please help me.

### ENSLAVED?

#### **Words of Jesus:**

Jesus replied, 'Very truly I tell you, everyone who sins is a slave to sin. Now a slave has no permanent place in the family, but a son belongs to it for ever. So if the Son sets you free, you will be free indeed...'

John 8:34-36

Almost 30 million people are thought to be living as slaves across the world today. That is a truly astonishing figure. But should we be so horrified that men and women will control and use and abuse fellow human beings?

The slave 'owners' are themselves slaves, for the Bible tells us that we are all slaves to sin (that is, we rebel against God), unless Jesus has set us free.

When Jesus does set us free, we are 'born again' with a new nature. And with our new nature comes a new desire: a desire to live to please God as we take our place in His family. We will not be perfect and will continue to sin. But we will no longer be controlled by that old sinful nature which enslaves us.

Have you yet been released from your life of slavery? If not, are you ready to begin a new life of true freedom, as a child of God? How you can do that – and what it means to be 'born again' – is explained on pages 108-115.

### DEAR FATHER GOD

I know that I am a slave to sin. I do not seem to be in control of my own life. I feel as though someone else is controlling me. I do things I really do not want to do. Jesus, please set me free.

### **Linda's Story**

There have been seasons in my life when I have had neither a half empty nor half full mindset; I have asked, 'Glass? What glass? I don't see any glass.' A combination of unresolved personal issues, carrying other people's struggles, and despair at the evil in the world, can weigh me down in a creeping fog of inner hopelessness.

I draw comfort from the Bible. I often turn to the account of the disciples' visit to the tomb where Jesus was buried.

# I draw comfort from the Bible.

'Early on the first day of the week, while it was still dark, Mary Magdalene went to the tomb...'

Mary is in darkness. The lack of light reflects her despair. Jesus is dead; she witnessed His crucifixion. It's all over. Her mind is clouded with grief, but dawning hope will soon burst out, when the risen Jesus calls her by name.<sup>2</sup> On dark days, I've held on to Mary's experience. I can't see it, but God is here.

This links to the image at the opening of John's Gospel, 'The light shines in the darkness, and the darkness has not overcome it.' However deep the darkness is, in us or across the world, the light of God will pierce the darkness and overcome it. Darkness will not have the final word. Jesus is that light.

# ... the light of God will pierce the darkness and overcome it.

That leads me on to another scriptural image which speaks of the great hope of the fulfilment of all things, when God will dwell with His people and wipe every tear away, when death will be no more and mourning, crying and pain will flee away. We can see our experience of darkness against the backdrop of this great hope which pushes back the shadows. The imagery is comforting.

Half empty? Half full? No glass? The questions fade when I gaze into the hope of this great promise and hear the reassuring whisper of God, 'Trust Me and focus on the Light – My Son, Jesus.'

### **Paul's Story**

As a relatively experienced junior supply officer, I had responsibility for fuel storage on the Unit. It was not a particularly glamorous role, although I was well aware of the potential consequences of any failure on our part.

In 1976, when I was selected as a crew member for the RAF entry in the Fastnet Race, I had no hesitation in accepting. We were delighted that our boat finished third in its class. However, the feeling of satisfaction was short-lived, for I was summoned to return to the Station immediately. Contaminated fuel had been issued to a visiting aircraft and a serious accident had only been narrowly averted.

I was in turmoil, even scared, throughout the 15-hour journey. And I was in a state of confusion as the Station Commander expressed concern about my capacity to exercise responsible management. His bark still rings in my ears, 'A formal enquiry is being convened and until it is completed, you had better ensure no similar problems arise – you are dismissed!'

### I was in turmoil ... scared ...

The next six months were bleak. I was filled with anxiety and totally bewildered, knowing that my staff were scrupulous in carrying out all mandatory checks. 'God, help me!', I screamed on one occasion. No one heard. Indeed, I realised that no one was around; people were avoiding me. But God heard me of course. And the Station Chaplain encouraged me, 'Don't lose heart for God has not abandoned you.' This Bible verse assures us of that truth:'... for the Lord your God goes with you; he will never leave you nor forsake you.'1

# 'Don't lose heart for God has not abandoned you.'

When the enquiry was finally concluded, I found myself suitably chastened by the Air Marshal, as he announced, 'These findings make grim reading and lessons must be learned. The enquiry finds you 'excusably negligent". This meant that no individual was personally negligent; detailed testing proved that the near fatal disaster was caused by a defective valve. I was so thankful that God had sustained me throughout that experience.



#### **Words of King David:**

The LORD is my shepherd, I lack nothing.
He makes me lie down in green pastures,
he leads me beside quiet waters...

Even though I walk through the darkest valley, I will fear no evil, for you are with me; your rod and your staff, they comfort me.

Psalm 23:1-2,4

We can all expect to experience grief through death at some point in our lives. Some will also face it through divorce or separation.

As we grieve, we need someone to journey with us: someone willing to spend time with us but only when we need them; someone willing to talk with us but only when we wish to talk; someone willing to listen when we do not want advice;

someone willing to cry with us; someone willing to accept our outbursts of anger.

There is no better person to journey with us, through the darkest valleys, than Jesus. He always knows our deepest thoughts and our deepest needs. He will never leave those who choose to journey with Him, either through the valleys or over the hills.

It is good to have family members and close friends who will walk with you as you grieve but accept Jesus as that very best friend. You can depend upon Him totally.

### DEAR FATHER GOD

I am thankful for the friends who are trying to help me but they do not really understand how I am feeling. And they do not know what to say. But You must understand completely. Please comfort me and help me through my grief.

### GUILT-RIDDEN?

#### Words of the Apostle:

How much more, then, will the blood of Christ, who through the eternal Spirit offered himself unblemished to God, cleanse our consciences from acts that lead to death, so that we may serve the living God!

Hebrews 9:14

Let us draw near to God with a sincere heart and with the full assurance that faith brings, having our hearts sprinkled to cleanse us from a guilty conscience ...

Hebrews 10:22

In a shop recently, I was overwhelmed by the range of cleaning products, with special products for each type of surface and each type of stain. I was delighted when I spotted a multipurpose cleaner!

Stains spoil the appearance of the fabric (or carpet or surface) and it is very satisfying when you find the right product to remove them.

The worst stains are not to be found in our home but within us. They are the stains of our guilt. They are the result of the things which we have done and now regret. The very worst stains can be very difficult to live with.

There is just one remedy for our stains: the blood of the Lord Jesus Christ. Jesus had never sinned Himself and was the perfect sacrifice, offered to God in our place. To receive God's forgiveness – and have our guilty conscience cleansed – we must turn to Jesus Christ.

### DEAR FATHER GOD

The guilt I am carrying around with me is just too much. I must get rid of it. I keep asking myself why I did those things. Will You please help me? I do believe that only Jesus can truly cleanse me.

### HUNGRY?

#### Words of Jesus:

Then Jesus declared, 'I am the bread of life. Whoever comes to me will never go hungry, and whoever believes in me will never be thirsty.

For my Father's will is that everyone who looks to the Son and believes in him shall have eternal life, and I will raise them up at the last day.'

John 6:35,40

Jesus spoke these words to the crowds, shortly after He fed more than five thousand hungry people with just five small loaves and two small fish.

The crowds hoped for more – and greater – material things from Jesus' miraculous powers but He had to disappoint them. His mission was not to satisfy their appetites for material pleasures and possessions but to meet their deep spiritual needs.

Jesus referred to Himself as the bread of life. He had come to earth to give life – eternal life. It was available to everyone who was hungry to know Jesus and to believe in Him. Today, Jesus still longs that people will have a hunger for Him.

Will you follow the crowds with their hunger for popularity, power, status, success, wealth and so much more: a hunger that will never truly be met?

Or will you choose to accept Jesus' invitation to follow Him? If you choose Jesus, your hunger will be satisfied and you will be safe with Him for eternity.

### DEAR FATHER GOD

I know this to be true. I see this with my friends who have achieved and gained so much and yet are hungry for more. I do believe what Jesus has said. I know I will only find real satisfaction in following Him. I intend to do that.

### INSECURE?

#### The words of the Apostle:

... we who have fled to take hold of the hope set before us may be greatly encouraged.

We have this hope as an anchor for the soul, firm and secure.

Hehrews 6.18h-19a

Water is an attraction for many people. Some enjoy a canal boat for the serenity and security it offers. For the adventurous, the exhilarating experience of white water rafting has greater appeal.

However, no white water enthusiast would want their life to resemble rafting, with the constant and desperate struggle to avoid overturning. Yet some people's lives are a bit like that. They are continually battered by the roaring waters of life. They long to be secure in placid waters.

Even in the apparent safety of a harbour, a boat must be anchored; otherwise, it will gently drift away with the tide or be swept away in a storm.

In these verses, the writer uses the anchor as a symbol of the hope which keeps the Christian fully secure. The Christian's hope is like an anchor firmly embedded in an immovable rock. That rock is Jesus Himself.

Are you drifting or being battered? Why not anchor yourself to Jesus? With Him, you will be secure forever.

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I feel very insecure as I come up against one problem after another. I wonder how long I can manage to keep going. Please help me to know how I can have Jesus as a rock and how I can anchor my life to Him. Thank You.

## INSULTED?

#### The crucifixion of Jesus:

Those who passed by hurled insults at him, shaking their heads and saying, 'So! You who are going to destroy the temple and build it in three days, come down from the cross and save yourself!'

Mark 15:29-30

Insults are hard to ignore. They wound us – as they are intended to – and we cannot pretend otherwise. They may remind us of something which we want to forget; perhaps something personal about us or our family; perhaps an unhappy episode from our past. Or they may just not be true.

Even as Jesus was dying on the cross, in great pain, the crowds hurled insults at Him. Their insults never had any element of truth: it was impossible to find fault with Him.

Their cruel and spiteful outbursts would have added to Jesus' anguish, just as insults hurt us. They also mocked Jesus by

misquoting what He had said about the temple being destroyed and rebuilt in three days. They had not understood that Jesus was talking about His own body and how He would be raised to life again. And of course He was.

Instead of retaliating, Jesus entrusted Himself to Father God who judges justly.<sup>1</sup> When we are insulted, we should try to follow Jesus' example.

### DEAR FATHER GOD

Those who insult me must hate me and I feel hatred towards them. I know I am wrong to have these feelings but it is hard to ignore remarks which are meant to hurt. Please help me not to retaliate and please protect my heart from insulting words.

### John's Story

On 7 January 1986, while flying in a practice sortie over the Pennines, my Phantom FGR2 suddenly went out of control, pitching violently up and down. I immediately ejected. To my relief, the main parachute deployed, and the seat separated. The only sound was that of the gentle breeze – and of the enormous fire ball in front of me.

I knew my left arm was broken. In a little more than 20 seconds, as I was about to hit the ground, I was bracing my legs together in the hope that I could prevent them from breaking too. But that failed; my survival pack slammed into my right leg and broke it in two places. I bounced forward and stopped for a fraction of a second, relieved again that I was safe. I had survived!

Or had I? The wind caught the parachute and I was dragged across one of the highest points in the Pennines, hitting my head against the rocks. I shouted out to God, 'Save me!' I released my parachute harness but realised that the underslung harness and survival pack were still connected to my hip by

10 metres of lanyard. As my parachute was about to drag me over the edge of a cliff, I screamed that two-word prayer again, 'Save me!' I just about managed to stick my good leg into the snow and then release the clip, which released me from the parachute and all the gear.

# I shouted out to God, 'Save me!'

As I lay in the snow, enormously relieved, I cried out to God again; this time it was a prayer of thanks. When a helicopter soon arrived, I asked how they had located me without my Personal Locator Beacon, which I had not been able to activate. When told that it was going all the time, I knew that God had intervened with a miracle; He had heard and answered my desperate cries for help.

# He (God) had ... answered my desperate cries for help.

### **Martin's Story**

I have served in the RAF as a musician for 28 years. I have always known that God was by my side; I have felt His presence knowing that He is watching over me and, of course, my family.

When the pandemic hit in 2020 and the world was turned upside down, little did we expect that our family would be turned upside down. We suddenly became three when our daughter, without any warning or explanation, decided to 'go off grid'; she cut herself off from us completely and we have had no contact since.

At a time when others were drawn closer in support of one another, our family was fractured, leaving us heartbroken and devastated. My wife and I felt rejected as parents. And my faith was shaken; I questioned how God could let this happen to us!

... our family was fractured, leaving us ... devastated.

As the pandemic rumbled on, I found myself deployed on two MACA's.¹ In a lonely hotel room one night, I reflected on what was happening with my family and my faith. At that moment, I realised that I could no longer carry this burden on my own. I recognised the need to give the situation over to God and to ask Him to watch over our family. A sense of peace prevailed in knowing that, whatever happened, God would always be in control. I was reminded by what the Bible tells us: 'He has made everything beautiful in its time.'2

### ... I realised that I could no longer carry this burden on my own.

We continue to pray and trust that one day our family will be reunited, that three will become four. As we take each day at a time and in the darkest moments, I find solace in what I know to be true – that, whatever happens, nothing can cut us off from God's love and care for us.<sup>3</sup>

### ISOLATED?

#### The words of King David:

Where can I go from your Spirit?
Where can I flee from your presence?

Psalm 139:7

#### The words of the Apostle Paul:

For I am convinced that neither death nor life, neither angels nor demons, neither the present nor the future, nor any powers, neither height nor depth, nor anything else in all creation, will be able to separate us from the love of God that is in Christ Jesus our Lord.

Romans 8:38-39

Many of us will feel isolated at some time in our lives; it may be for a matter of days or weeks or it may continue for months or even years.

Many factors can cause us to be isolated: by a move to a new area, by illness or accident, by a relationship breakdown or

family dispute, by unemployment or financial difficulties or even by imprisonment.

The words of King David remind us that we can never be isolated from God. Wherever we are, God is there too. And the Apostle Paul, while alone in prison, knew that God was with him. That is also true for every one of us, whatever our circumstances and however isolated we might feel.

Are you isolated from family and friends? Or perhaps you have no family or, at least, no contact with them. Remember that you are not separated from God. Receive the love He offers you, right where you are.

### DEAR FATHER GOD

I am isolated and it is very painful. I am thankful that nothing can separate me from Your love. Please help me to know that You are with me at all times and may the knowledge of Your presence and Your love keep me strong.

### Peace, Hope, Joy

**True peace** comes only from knowing God personally by faith in Jesus Christ. Jesus was called Prince of Peace<sup>1</sup>. He alone can give us an inner peace to help us through our struggles in this life.

**True hope** – a sure hope – comes only from knowing that we can look forward to a glorious future, free of struggles, beyond this life.

**True joy** comes only from God's Holy Spirit which comes to dwell within us when we enter into a personal relationship with God.

We can only enjoy a personal relationship with God through faith in His Son, Jesus Christ. First, we must accept that there is sin in our life. Sin is our failure to observe God's laws, especially the first commandment, 'You shall have no other gods before me.'2

Then we must repent of our sin and accept God's remedy for it. It requires nothing more but nothing less.

#### God's words from the Bible to all who trust in Jesus:

Therefore, since we have been justified through faith, we have peace with God through our Lord Jesus Christ, through whom we have gained access by faith into this grace in which we now stand. Romans 5:1-2a

Praise be to the God and Father of our Lord Jesus Christ! In his great mercy he has given us new birth into a living hope through the resurrection of Jesus Christ from the dead, and into an inheritance that can never perish, spoil or fade. This inheritance is kept in heaven for you... 1 Peter 1:3-4

But the fruit of the Spirit is love, joy, peace...

Galatians 5:22a

To repent of our sin means to turn away from our sin and to resolve, with God's help, to live to please Him.

And God's remedy for our sin was His amazing act of great kindness, love and mercy: He sent His Son, Jesus, to stand in our place to take the punishment which we deserve. Jesus did that when He was crucified.

And so we have to decide whether to accept God's remedy for our sin and receive His forgiveness. If we choose not to, we will have to face God's wrath and take His punishment ourselves.

How we receive God's forgiveness – and the consequences of refusing His forgiveness – is explained more fully in *Our Biggest Struggle* on pages 108-115.

As a child of God – a Christian – we will still encounter the same struggles. But God's Spirit will give us peace and joy, knowing that we are safe in His hands. And we will have the right perspective on our struggles, with the hope – the absolute confidence – of a future eternal life with God, free of all the troubles and struggles which we have to endure in this life on earth.

Very rarely will anyone die for a righteous person, though for a good person someone might possibly dare to die. But God demonstrates his own love for us in this: while we were still sinners, Christ died for us.

Romans 5:7-8

Therefore we do not lose heart. Though outwardly we are wasting away, yet inwardly we are being renewed day by day. For our light and momentary troubles are achieving for us an eternal glory that far outweighs them all. So we fix our eyes not on what is seen, but on what is unseen, since what is seen is temporary, but what is unseen is eternal.

2 Corinthians 4:16-18

### LONELY?

#### **Words of Jesus:**

'I am the good shepherd; I know my sheep and my sheep know me...'

John 10:14

It is very painful when we have no one: when there is no one to ask how we are feeling; when there is no one who has the time or inclination to visit or call; when there is no one who realises how lonely we are.

Jesus likens Himself to a shepherd. Shepherds know and care for all their sheep. They care for each one individually. If one sheep goes off alone, the shepherd will go and search for it. Shepherds will never forget any one of their flock.

That is a wonderful illustration of how God sees us. We are all very precious to Him. He knows every one of us by name and we are never out of His sight, never alone. We may find that difficult to grasp but it is true.

Lonely? Then entrust your life to Jesus, the good and perfect shepherd, and become one of His sheep. As one of His flock, you will be welcomed as a member of God's family. The steps you need to take are explained on pages 108-115.

### DEAR FATHER GOD

I am beginning to realise just how lonely I am. It is very painful. It is staggering to think that You know every person on this earth by name – and that includes me. I do want Jesus to be my shepherd and I want to be part of Your family.

# LOST?

#### The words of a loving father:

"... But we had to celebrate and be glad, because this brother of yours was dead and is alive again; he was lost and is found."

Luke 15:32

This verse comes at the end of the parable which Jesus told of The Prodigal (or Lost) Son.<sup>1</sup> In the story, the younger of two sons asks his father for his share of the inheritance and then leaves home

The inheritance is soon squandered. Without any friends and barely able to get enough food to survive, he is lost to know what to do.

Eventually, his thoughts turn to home. Reluctantly (and ashamed), he decides to return, just hoping that his father might show mercy. All he wants is to be hired as a servant.

He need not have feared. His father is so thrilled when he sees his son in the distance that he runs to meet him and embraces him. The father then lays on a feast to celebrate the lost son's return.

That is a wonderful picture of God, our Heavenly Father, who longs to welcome back all who recognise that they are lost. Are you?

### DEAR FATHER GOD

I am like that lost son. I thought I would have a better life if You were not a part of it. How wrong I was. I now realise I do need You. I am very sorry.

### MALIGNED?

#### **Words of King David:**

Do not let those gloat over me who are my enemies without cause; do not let those who hate me without reason maliciously wink the eye.

They do not speak peaceably, but devise false accusations against those who live quietly in the land.

Psalm 35:19-20

'Sticks and stones may break my bones but words will never hurt me.' This saying aims to encourage children to ignore what others say about them but it is not true; words can hurt. Malicious words can be more destructive than sticks and stones. And if the words are untrue, then the pain becomes even more difficult to bear

When enemies of King David made false accusations against him, he asked God to intervene and to put them to shame. The

Bible says that we should not take revenge but allow God to act: "'It is mine to avenge; I will repay," says the Lord.' 1

When false accusations were made against Jesus, resulting in His death, He did not defend Himself. Instead, as He hung on the cross, He asked God to forgive those responsible.

If you have been maligned, try not to respond with anger. That will only add to your pain. Why not ask God to help you follow Jesus' example?

### DEAR FATHER GOD

You know that the things being said about me are untrue and they are really hurting me. Please cause these people to stop. And please help me to put aside my anger and forgive them.

### OPPRESSED?

#### Words of the Psalmist:

He upholds the cause of the oppressed and gives food to the hungry.

The LORD sets prisoners free, the LORD gives sight to the blind, the LORD lifts up those who are bowed down, the LORD loves the righteous.

Psalm 146:7-8

These verses remind us that God is compassionate: He has a concern for everyone in need but especially for those whom society looks down upon. Amongst others, the Psalmist mentions the oppressed, that is the downtrodden; the exploited; the disadvantaged; and the underprivileged.

Jesus demonstrated the reality of God's compassion when He was on earth. He always had time for people who were oppressed by others. That compassion was seen in many of the

healings He performed: of lepers; of the blind; of the lame; of the demon-possessed.

It was also seen in His choice of 'friends': He became known as a 'friend of tax collectors and sinners'. (Tax collectors were resented by their fellow Jews because they worked for the Romans and were corrupt in charging extra tax for their own pockets.)

If you are oppressed, there can be no better friend to have than Jesus. He knows just how you are feeling. He has time for you if you will take time to speak with Him.

### DEAR FATHER GOD

I take great comfort when I read of the sort of people Jesus chose to spend time with. I think He would have spent time with me. Please help me to understand how I can get to know Jesus as a friend.

### **Stuart's Story**

I joined the RAF at 18 straight from school and immediately found myself out of my depth amongst people much older and, inevitably, with more life experience. As an officer, you are expected to engage with your peers as well as your subordinates and to exude an air of confidence and professionalism. However, I compensated by pretending to be someone I wasn't, which then caused an element of risk to being exposed, adding to my insecurity.

Being an introvert, although I had become a Christian at the age of 13, I didn't speak about my faith. I had a good prayer life and personal relationship with Jesus, but this was very much a one-on-one relationship that I was a little embarrassed to share.

I became a flying instructor early on in my career which automatically gave me an element of credibility, so I was then able to hide behind this facade and start living how I perceived people expected me to. The downside was that my inner

struggles with insecurity got worse, the fear being that one day I would be exposed as a fraud.

# ... my inner struggles with insecurity got worse ...

I was also active in a local church where I discovered that I could be accepted for who I was without having to pretend. But now I was leading two lives. It took a long time for these two lives to get closer together but as I gained confidence, it became more natural and I was able to start believing in myself.

### ... I was leading two lives.

If I could have done one thing differently, it would have been to trust God to provide me with strength and guidance from the start, and to be faithful to the person He had made me to be. I can now live my life knowing that I don't have to pretend any more, but it would have been so much easier if I had done that from the start.

### **Brian's Story**

In 1972, I was the navigator in a Phantom F4 with my pilot, John, en route from Singapore to UK with a Victor air-to-air refueller. The leg from Masirah Island (Oman) to Akrotiri (Cyprus) took four and a half hours and meant passing over several high mountains in Turkey.

Close to Diyarbakir, one of the engines failed and we could not maintain our height, 28,000 feet. Sinking fast, John engaged the afterburner on the other engine to regain our height and rejoin the tanker. With one engine in reheat, we would consume a great deal of extra fuel but we were assured that the tanker had plenty of fuel available on board.

I quickly despatched an emergency 'please help' prayer to the Lord. What a comfort to know that, though we may panic in an emergency, nothing ever surprises God. He knows the future from the next minute through to eternity. And what a comfort to know that He hears every prayer as it is uttered and that no situation is beyond His control. He has infinite power to act as He chooses.

# ... what a comfort ... that no situation is beyond His (God's) control.

Refuelling in the air demanded a precise approach to a hose and drogue being trailed by the tanker. John then had to engage that drogue with our probe, protruding from the side of our F4. A faultless connection was achieved and fuel started flowing. We topped up twice and continued towards Akrotiri. We eventually landed. It was a superb effort from John.

But our relief was dealt a blow by our Group Commander. On reading the incident report, he decided that John had been negligent in ignoring the time limits that any engine should be continuously operated in reheat. However, at the court-martial, our resident Rolls Royce engineer interpreted the rules for continuous operations in reheat quite differently and the Court's verdict was 'not guilty'.

### OVERWHELMED?

#### **Words of Jesus:**

'Therefore everyone who hears these words of mine and puts them into practice is like a wise man who built his house on the rock...'

Matthew 7.24

Jesus spoke of two builders: one who built his house on foundations of rock and the other who simply built his house on sand. It was inevitable that the house without foundations would collapse when a severe thunderstorm came. And that is what happened.

Jesus used this to illustrate the importance of building our lives upon a proper foundation, in order that we should not be overwhelmed by the pressures, tensions and struggles which can be a part of everyday life.

The truly wise man is the one who puts his trust in Jesus. He knows that Jesus will be there to help him when there is a danger of being overwhelmed by troubles. The wise man's faith becomes the very foundation of his life.

God Himself has declared, 'No, there is no other Rock; I know not one.' If you are being swamped by problems which threaten to overwhelm you, why not start building your life on Jesus, with Him right at the centre?

### DEAR FATHER GOD

I am so vulnerable because I panic when I think I am going to be overwhelmed by a crisis. I need something or someone I can really trust. I will ask Jesus to be my rock: I believe that only He can be the rock I need.

### REJECTED?

#### A prophecy concerning Jesus:

He was despised and rejected by mankind, a man of suffering, and familiar with pain.

Isaiah 53:3a

#### The trial of Jesus:

But the whole crowd shouted, 'Away with this man! Release Barabbas to us!'
Wanting to release Jesus, Pilate appealed to them again. But they kept shouting, 'Crucify him! Crucify him!'

Luke 23:18, 20-21

Rejection is always hard to accept, for we all have a fundamental need to belong and to be wanted. It is hard when your friends – even your family – turn their back on you; when your job applications are continually rejected and when you are told by a charity that you are 'not suitable' to be a volunteer.

Jesus knows all about rejection. Pontius Pilate, the Roman governor, wanted to release Jesus (under the custom of releasing a prisoner at the annual Passover festival). But the crowd rejected Jesus in favour of Barabbas who was being held in prison for insurrection and murder.

As Barabbas was freed, so Jesus was condemned to be crucified. It was no surprise to Jesus that people who once followed Him sided with the religious leaders in rejecting Him.

We know that Father God will never reject anyone who turns to Him, believing in Jesus. If you believe in Jesus you need never fear God's rejection.

### DEAR FATHER GOD

I know that You will never reject me. Thank You. Please help me to overcome the pain from my past rejection. And please help me to follow Jesus' example in not retaliating against those who have hurt me.

### RESTLESS?

#### **Words of the Apostle Paul:**

But now in Christ Jesus you who once were far away have been brought near by the blood of Christ. For he himself is our peace, ...

Ephesians 2:13-14a

Let the peace of Christ rule in your hearts, ...

Colossians 3:15a

Life today seems designed to make us restless and unsatisfied: always wanting something more or just something different.

We think that we will be satisfied if we can only find a new (and better) job or home, a new relationship or a new interest. But rarely are we fully satisfied for long; often we will soon be restless again, perhaps not even sure what to strive for next.

The real reason for our restlessness is that we have failed to understand the purpose of life: that life has no real purpose if God has no part in it. We were created in God's image in order to be in a relationship with Him and to please Him. Unless that becomes our purpose, we will constantly be restless.

If you want to be free from constant restlessness, pursue God's purpose for your life by trusting His Son, Jesus Christ. Allow Him to rule in your heart and to be your peace.

### DEAR FATHER GOD

I have been restless for as long as I can remember. But that is not how I want my life to be. I want to be settled and satisfied and to have peace in my heart. I realise I need Jesus in my heart.

### SCARED?

#### **Words of King David:**

Truly he is my rock and my salvation;
he is my fortress, I shall not be shaken.
My salvation and my honour depend on God;
he is my mighty rock, my refuge.
Trust in him at all times, you people;
pour out your hearts to him,
for God is our refuge.

Psalm 62: 6-8

David's early life as a shepherd boy may have been fairly peaceful. He did not seem to be unduly troubled by the danger of prowling lions and wolves. Nor was he scared when he faced Goliath, the great Philistine giant whom he then defeated.

Later, however, David did receive some death threats which caused him to be scared. First, King Saul tried to kill him when he became jealous of David's popularity with the people. After that, David was forced to escape from his own son, Absalom.

When we read some of David's Psalms, we see that he often cried out to God to ask for protection from his enemies. And he was able to say that God was his rock, his fortress and his refuge. He knew God would never fail him.

Whatever your circumstances, that can also be true for you. God can be your rock and your refuge.

### DEAR FATHER GOD

As You know everything, You know how scared I am about the situation I am now facing. I am willing to admit it. Please protect me. I want You to be my refuge just as You were King David's refuge.

### SHNKING?

#### **Words of King David:**

I waited patiently for the LORD; he turned to me and heard my cry. He lifted me out of the slimy pit, out of the mud and mire; he set my feet on a rock and gave me a firm place to stand. He put a new song in my mouth, a hymn of praise to our God.

Psalm 40:1-3a

David begins this Psalm by describing God's help like being rescued from a slimy pit. It is a picture of David being utterly helpless, sinking slowly into the slimy mud.

Later in the Psalm, David makes a further urgent plea to God to save him, 'Be pleased to save me, LORD; come quickly, LORD, to help me.' (v13). He is overwhelmed by further troubles which, he says, are 'too many to count'. Some of them are the result of his own sin.

After pleading for God's mercy, David finally prays this prayer (v17):

'But as for me, I am poor and needy;

may the LORD think of me.

You are my help and my deliverer;

you are my God, do not delay.'

God is still lifting people out of their 'slimy pits' when they recognise how helpless they are and decide to cry out to Him. If you identify with David's circumstances – with problems too many to count – why not cry out to God as David did?

### DEAR FATHER GOD

With all the issues I am facing, I feel as though I am sinking in a slimy pit, like David imagined he was. Please hear my cry for help and deliver me. I want to be on firm ground and able to praise You.

### Rachel's Story

Having grown up in a vicarage, I cannot remember a time when I was not a churchgoer, and my faith grew with me. My early childhood was pretty idyllic with my parents, my brother (two years older than me) and our daft golden retriever.

When I was eight, a tragedy struck the family while we were on holiday abroad; my brother was killed in an accident. I was badly injured, and was airlifted to hospital by myself. Watching my beloved big brother die was incredibly painful. As a bewildered 8-year-old, my faith was challenged.

# Watching my beloved big brother die was incredibly painful.

And yet, over the weeks and months ahead, I was able to hold on to my faith. Even at the time of the accident my instinct had been to pray. As a family, the intense pain at our loss was exacerbated by the

fact that we had to live out our grief in the glare of press interest, church interest and village interest. But despite being angry towards God, I found I never once doubted His goodness.

# ... I never once doubted His (God's) goodness.

Gradually, with many people praying for us, I experienced healing. I found immense comfort in knowing Jesus Christ as my Saviour. What I have been through is nothing compared to the suffering He had to endure, so that those who are His followers would spend eternity with Him.

Knowing that my brother was in heaven and I would one day meet him again, enabled me to engage in living the life ahead of me. It has also informed my sense of vocation as a padre. Experiencing trauma myself has given me a deep heart for those who suffer, and it is my motivation for all that I do in seeking to care for others. God has equipped me to do that for just over 20 years now.

### **Colin's Story**

"For I know the plans I have for you," declares the Lord, "plans to prosper you and not to harm you, plans to give you hope and a future." This has always been a favourite Bible verse of mine. I was conscious of it when, in 1959, I took up the suggestion of a friend and applied to join the RAF as a Physical Training Instructor (PTI). The only offer I received was for a RAF Police Officer.

I persisted with my longing to become a PTI, which is what I believed God had put on my heart to do. Eventually, after passing a physical assessment, I was granted an interview, but I was aware that I was short of two GCE's, which was confirmed at the interview. Remarkably, the Flight Lieutenant, on checking whether it was a further two or three that were needed, discovered that the requirements had just been changed – I no longer needed any more GCE's!

# I persisted with my longing to become a PTI ...

## ...I no longer needed any more GCE's!

I was delighted when I heard that news, not only because the door to my chosen career had opened but, also, because I believed that God was confirming that it was His plan for me too. It was a bit of a setback to learn that there were no available places on the next course, and there would be a wait of several months. Despite the fact I was unemployed and very keen to start working, I was content to wait.

The wait was considerably shorter than expected. Within 10 days, I received a letter notifying me that a place was now available on the six-month initial training course at the RAF School of Physical Training at RAF St Athan in South Wales. Again, I felt sure that God had intervened to make that place available. Within a matter of weeks, I commenced training to be a PTI.

Continued

God sustained me throughout my 36 years in the RAF. Naturally, there were times when I struggled with the circumstances I faced, but I thank God that He always kept me from stumbling.<sup>1</sup>

As retirement loomed – only from the RAF – I began to ask God about the next step in His plans for me, believing that it was not to 'settle into retirement'! Another scripture came to mind: 'Even to your old age and grey hairs I am he, I am he who will sustain you ...'<sup>2</sup> I had learned to pray with confidence, remembering Jesus' words: '... your Father knows what you need before you ask him.'<sup>3</sup>

# '... your Father knows what you need before you ask him.'

Of course, God knew what I didn't know. I knew that the Head of Physical Education at the Air Cadet Organisation (ACO) – an ex-RAF colleague – was nearing retirement. What I didn't know was that the applicant for the role had failed the interview.

I applied and was offered the appointment. I was then granted premature voluntary retirement from the RAF, to allow me to commence a second career as Head of Physical Education – a career that was to last for 10 years.

Adventure Training was to be my focus, providing further opportunities for personal development. I oversaw about 25 overseas expeditions each year to far-flung places, such as Nepal, Nicaragua, Paraguay, Myanmar (Burma), Australia and New Zealand.

These expeditions provided the young people with life-changing experiences, enabling them to develop their personal skills in team building, supervision and management.

It was a privilege, in Nicaragua, to link up with an ex-RAF colleague and to support his work there amongst the poor and marginalised communities.

As I look back on my two careers, over more than four decades, I am so grateful to God for all His provision and goodness.

# ... I am so grateful to God for all His provision and goodness.

### **Daniel's Story**

I know that God sustains us through tough times. I have experienced it. I suffered a series of unexpected, difficult events over a period of four years: a divorce, the end of a long military career, serious family illness, the death of a parent, an unexpected house move, a serious family rift, and, as we all did, the impact of COVID. It was a truly overwhelming period.

Despite my long-standing faith, I realised that I was struggling to understand where and how God fitted into helping with my troubles. Until then, I had not really needed God's help very much; I had been self-sufficient. I now learned to be vulnerable and intentional, admitting to Him where my problems lay and, importantly, asking Him for advice, to reveal things I couldn't quite see.

## I now learned to be vulnerable and intentional ...

God became my strength. He enabled me to open up to people. He guided me to friends who

supported me. He prompted me to seek professional help. My relationship with Him grew more than I had expected, to the extent that I truly know Him now as my Heavenly Father, even as my Dad. I can tell Him exactly what is on my mind; nothing ever surprises Him for He already knows the thoughts of every one of us.

# ... I truly know Him (God) ... even as my Dad.

I have been reminded that the basics really do matter in our relationship with God. Prayer is a strong foundation. I aim to read the Bible daily; I don't always manage it but it makes a huge, positive difference when I give time to it regularly. Fellowship with a small number of friends has been essential; I can share anything with them, and I mean anything.

Even with the Lord's support, life can be tough. I am not sure that I would have survived those four years without Him. I do wonder how people cope as they battle with their struggles without the support of Almighty God.

### TROUBLED?

#### **Words of Jesus to His disciples:**

'Peace I leave with you; my peace I give you.
I do not give to you as the world gives.
Do not let your hearts be troubled
and do not be afraid. ...'

John 14:27

Jesus spoke these words to comfort His disciples. After sharing 'The Last Supper' together, Jesus had explained that He would shortly be leaving them. This was devastating news. Naturally, they were troubled about what would happen to them: they had spent the last three years with Jesus, having given up everything to follow Him.

Jesus assured the disciples that He would not leave them on their own like orphans: God the Father would send the Holy Spirit to be their Helper.<sup>1</sup> And because of His presence in their hearts, the disciples would enjoy peace.

That promise was not just for those disciples. Today, every believer in the Lord Jesus Christ has the Holy Spirit living in them. They, too, can enjoy perfect peace in times of trouble.

That does not mean that followers of Jesus do not experience trouble, for we live in a troubled world. What it does mean is that, despite their troubles, God's peace will guard their hearts and minds.<sup>2</sup>

### DEAR FATHER GOD

More than anything else, I want to have peace in my heart, despite everything that is going on in my life. Please give me peace that I may be able to cope with the troubles I have to deal with.

## UNLOVED?

#### The Apostle John wrote:

See what great love the Father has lavished on us, that we should be called children of God!

And that is what we are!

1 John 3:1a

Whoever does not love does not know God, because God is love. This is how God showed his love among us: he sent his one and only Son into the world that we might live through him.

1 John 4:8-9

To love and to be loved are two of the most basic needs of human beings. We often take them for granted.

Sadly, because of broken relationships and broken families, many people do not have those needs met. Some may never have truly experienced love at all.

The Bible tells us that God is love. He loves us far more than we can possibly imagine and He wants every one of us to be a true child of His.

These are not just nice words to make us feel good. God proved His love by providing the way by which we can be rescued. He did that by sending Jesus to die for us.

Have you experienced God's love for yourself? If not, why not consider inviting Him to take control of your life and so become a part of His family? The steps you need to take to do that are explained on pages 108-115.

### DEAR FATHER GOD

I do feel unloved. For years I have longed to find love and to be able to show love to others but I have never succeeded. Please help me to understand how I can truly know You as a father, to be Your child and receive Your love.

### UNWORTHY?

### Words of the younger son in the story of The Lost Son:

'... I will set out and go back to my father and say to him: Father, I have sinned against heaven and against you. I am no longer worthy to be called your son; make me like one of your hired servants.'

Luke 15:18-19

In Jesus' story of The Lost (or Prodigal) Son, the younger son decided that he had had enough of his job of feeding pigs. That was how low he had sunk, having wasted his share of his father's inheritance.

He thought that the best he could hope for was to get his dad to take him on as one of his servants: he no longer felt worthy of being his son. But he need not have worried: his father was so relieved and delighted to see his son again. (See 'Lost?', page 64.)

Being unworthy is not a barrier to being accepted by God. The truth is we are all unworthy. None of us deserve God's love and acceptance, whether we have really messed up or whether we think we can boast about our good works.

The wonderful news is that Father God counts us worthy when we come to Him in the name of His Son, Jesus Christ. Jesus is the only One who is worthy.

### DEAR FATHER GOD

I am so grateful that I do not have to pass any test to show that I am worthy to be Your child. I know I would fail every test. Thank You for counting me worthy and for accepting me because I come to You in the name of Jesus.



#### **Words concerning Jesus:**

For we do not have a high priest who is unable to feel sympathy for our weaknesses, but we have one who has been tempted in every way, just as we are – yet he did not sin. Let us then approach God's throne of grace with confidence, so that we may receive mercy and find grace to help us in our time of need.

Hebrews 4:15-16

We may think that God is far too remote in heaven to be able to understand the realities of life on earth; the struggles which wear us down, leaving us so weak.

But that is not true. God knows everything about every one of us and cares for us personally. Also, these verses remind us that we come to God through Jesus (who acts as a high priest) and Jesus is certainly able to sympathise with our weakness. Jesus came to earth as a human being and experienced the difficulties and temptations of daily living just as we do. He had enemies who despised Him: they were always looking to find fault with Him. In His human weakness, Jesus constantly sought help from His Father in heaven.

If you are feeling weak, do not hold back from asking God for His help. You can approach Him with confidence, knowing that He is aware of your circumstances and that He wants to show you His grace and kindness.

### DEAR FATHER GOD

I am feeling weak and finding it difficult to cope with everything that is expected of me. I usually try to struggle on in my own strength but I cannot do that anymore. You know what I need to do. Please help me. Thank You.



#### An invitation from Jesus:

'Come to me, all you who are weary and burdened, and I will give you rest.

Take my yoke upon you and learn from me, for I am gentle and humble in heart, and you will find rest for your souls. For my yoke is easy and my burden is light.'

Matthew 11:28-30

Jesus always had a special concern for those who were weary with the strains and stresses of life. They were the people who really wanted to hear what Jesus had to say and how He could meet their needs.

The attitude of the religious leaders was quite different. As well as being self-righteous, they considered themselves self-sufficient. Their pride would not allow them to accept they had a need of anything or anyone. Certainly they would never admit that there was anything they could learn or gain from spending time with Jesus.

So, this invitation was for the ordinary people of the day. It was for those who recognised that life did get tough at times and who were willing to admit to being weary and burdened.

Jesus' invitation has not expired: it remains open today. Are you weary with family or work responsibilities – or both? If so, is there anything to prevent you from asking Jesus to give you rest as He has promised?

### DEAR FATHER GOD

I am not too proud to admit to being weary. Every morning I realise that I will never manage to do everything that people expect of me. Please help me not to take on more than I need to. And please help me to find rest for my soul with You.

### WORRIED?

#### **Words of Jesus:**

Then Jesus said to his disciples: 'Therefore I tell you, do not worry about your life, what you will eat; or about your body, what you will wear. For life is more than food, and the body more than clothes.

Who of you by worrying can add a single hour to your life? Since you cannot do this very little thing, why do you worry about the rest? ...'

Luke 12:22-23, 25-26

Often, it is uncertainty about the future that causes us to worry: and worry is like a thief who robs us of our peace of mind.

Jesus had just told a story of a rich farmer who was obsessed with safeguarding his future. Jesus called him a fool, because life itself is uncertain. He would soon die and all his labours would be wasted. It is foolish to plan for the future but leave God out of your life.

Jesus then told His disciples not to worry: worrying does not achieve anything. He reminds them that we are far more valuable to God than the birds and God feeds them.

Jesus assured the disciples that God knew all about their needs and they should leave the future in His hands. Instead of worrying, they were to focus on seeking God's kingdom.

Are you worrying about what might happen? It can be hard not to – but read again those words of Jesus. Try to follow His advice and trust Him.

### DEAR FATHER GOD

I often worry about the future. Please help me to hand my worries over to You and to be able to trust You to provide for my needs. I realise that You know everything about me and my situation. Thank You for caring for me.

### WORTHLESS?

#### Jesus and the blind beggar:

He called out, 'Jesus, Son of David,
have mercy on me!'
Those who led the way rebuked him
and told him to be quiet, but he shouted
all the more, 'Son of David, have mercy
on me!' Jesus stopped and ordered
the man to be brought to him.

Luke 18:38-40a

The blind beggar's cries for mercy were an embarrassment to the people. They must have thought a beggar was not someone worth bothering Jesus with. But they were wrong. They should have known that Jesus always had compassion on those in need.

Some of the people may have felt sorry for him but it seems that most of them looked down at him. Many might have regarded him as a worthless member of society. Perhaps that is how he thought about himself – worthless.

Jesus saw him quite differently: a very precious man created in God's own image. Jesus never ignored a cry for mercy and that is still the case today, for the Bible tells us that He is 'the same yesterday and today and forever.'

If you feel worthless for whatever reason, call out to Jesus. He will not ignore your cry. Your circumstances are not important to Him. What matters to Him most is your desire to love Him and to follow Him.

### DEAR FATHER GOD

I am sure that people look upon me as being worthless. That is how I think of myself. Please God, have mercy on me just as Jesus showed mercy to that beggar and please help me through this difficult time.

# OUR BIGGEST STRUGGLE

### OUR BIGGEST STRUGGLE

There is one struggle which is always in the background. Yet we may not even recognise it as a struggle. It is the struggle to obey God's laws.

The Apostle Paul summed it up very well:

For I do not do the good I want to do, but the evil I do not want to do – this I keep on doing. Now if I do what I do not want to do, it is no longer I who do it, but it is sin living in me that does it.

Romans 7:19-20

Paul wanted to do the right things but was always failing. He knew the reason: the sinful nature within him.

Paul really struggled with these bad inner pressures. However, many people never think about this personal struggle between right and wrong. We tend only to think about the struggles which cause us pain. But, when it comes to our problem with sin – breaking God's law – we must consider the pain we cause Him.

#### Why is God hurt when we sin?

When God created the world He made us in His likeness, so that we might relate with Him and live to glorify Him. But that has become impossible because of our sinful nature (which we inherited from Adam and Eve when they disobeyed God in the Garden of Eden).

The Bible tells us: '... for all have sinned and fall short of the glory of God.' Romans 3:23

God is absolutely holy and pure. He cannot tolerate sin and that is a barrier between God and us.

#### If God hates sin, does that mean He is not a God of love?

As God is just, He cannot simply ignore our sin. There has to be a punishment for it.

The Bible tells us: For the wages of sin is death... Romans 6:23a

But He is certainly loving and merciful. His love is so great that He longs to restore us rather than punish us. He made that possible by sending His Son, Jesus, to come to earth as a human being and to die in our place.

The Bible tells us: **But God demonstrates his** own love for us in this: while we were still sinners, Christ died for us. Romans 5:8

#### Does that mean God will not punish us?

It means that we will not have to face God's punishment but only if we choose to receive His forgiveness. We can ask God to

forgive us if we believe that Jesus Christ paid the penalty for our sins and if we are willing to allow Jesus to rule our lives.

There is nothing we can do to earn God's forgiveness; it is a free gift. When we accept His gift of forgiveness, we begin a new life as a follower of Jesus; the Bible describes it as being 'born again'.1

#### What happens if we decide not to accept Jesus?

If we say, 'No', to God's rescue plan, we will be punished ourselves. That will happen when Jesus returns to earth, for He will come to judge – and punish – everyone who has not accepted God's offer of forgiveness.

It will be the most awful punishment of being separated from God forever.

The Bible tells us: ... Whoever believes in him is not condemned, but whoever does not believe stands condemned already because they have not believed in the name of God's one and only Son. John 3:18

### JESUS

Why was Jesus, the Son of God,

BETRAYED, ABANDONED. FALSELY ACCUSED. MALIGNED. CONDEMNED, FLOGGED. MOCKED. SPAT ON, ASSAULTED, INSULTED. RIDICULED, HUMILIATED

- and hung on a cross to die?

Anyone unfamiliar with the true story might assume that Jesus had been responsible for the most horrendous crimes – perhaps war crimes, acts of terrorism or serial killings – to deserve to be treated as He was and then be put to death.

His brutal crucifixion, at the age of about 33, was certainly the greatest miscarriage of justice in history but it did not destroy

God's plan: it fulfilled it.

Jesus' purpose for coming to earth was to die – in our place. He willingly took the punishment which we all deserve; from the worst of criminals to the most 'upright' of law-abiding citizens.

He did that so that all our sins might be forgiven.

#### How can I become a Christian?

You can become a follower of Jesus and have all your sins forgiven by:

- accepting that you have not kept God's laws and deserve to be punished,
- believing that only Jesus can rescue you from God's punishment,
- **confessing** the wrong things in your life and repenting of them, that is, turning away from them,
- **deciding** to live to please God as a follower of Jesus.

If you are ready to take those steps, you can do so now by using the following prayer.

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I am very sorry for everything in my life, past and present, which is not right. I now repent of my sin.

Thank You for sending Jesus to die in my place, for my sins, in order to save me from the punishment which I deserve.

I want to live to please Jesus and to make Him the centre of my life – to be my King.

Please forgive all my sins and accept me as Your child. Please fill me with Your Holy Spirit to help me live a new life.

#### **AMEN**

If you have been sincere with this prayer, God has received you as His child. All your sins – past, present and future – are forgiven.

And what now? You will need to grow as a Christian and that can only happen if you meet regularly with other Christians where the Bible is taught carefully. Therefore, the first step is to link with a local church and with Christians who will be able to help and support you.

### PRAYER

### ABOUT PRAYER?

Prayer is often thought to be just asking for God's help, either for ourselves or others, when struggling with difficult situations. And of course cries for help are very real prayers and most of the prayers in this section are just that.

But prayer is much more than presenting our requests to God. It is the means by which we engage with God, not only making our needs known but also sharing with Him how we feel when things are going well. Through prayer, we can worship Him; we can thank Him for His goodness and we can express remorse when we have offended Him by things we have done or said.

#### WHO CAN PRAY?

Many people think that they are not 'good enough', or 'religious' enough, to pray, especially if they are not 'churchgoers'. They think that a priest or chaplain has to pray for them. In a way, no one is 'good enough' to speak with God because He is so perfectly holy. And yet, He is full of love and mercy and just longs for us to talk to Him, both in the good times as well as when we are finding life tough.

#### HOW SHOULD WE PRAY?

Prayer is not difficult. No special language is needed. It should simply be an honest conversation with God. He wants us to talk about how we really feel – both our happy and sad experiences – but always with respect and reverence.

When wanting to ask God for something there are three questions we should ask ourselves:

- are we living in a way that is pleasing to God?
- are we requesting something that will please God?
- are we doing what we can ourselves to meet the need?

We also need to pray with faith, which means that we must believe that God will hear our prayers and answer them. The Bible also teaches us not to give up. That may mean continuing to pray for days or weeks or even months or longer. Clearly, that can be difficult because it is only natural to want our prayers answered quickly.

#### DOES GOD REALLY ANSWER OUR PRAYERS?

God loves us and will always answer our prayers in the way that is best for us and when it is best for us. We cannot see beyond the present circumstances but He knows the future – and our future. Sometimes He will choose to help us through a difficult situation rather than removing the problem. We may want a 'quick fix' but that is not always the best solution.

We need to trust God and that is often hard. We must remember that He wants more for us than just an easy and comfortable life. More than anything else, He wants us to be a true child of His. It is only then that we find real fulfilment in this life and can be certain that we will go to be with Him when we die. That is His ultimate desire for every one of us. (See pages 108-115.)

#### THE PRAYERS IN THIS BOOK

The following pages provide a very small selection of prayers appropriate for those serving in the Royal Air Force. You may wish to use some of them. But, hopefully, they will be just a guide to help you use prayers of your own, using your own words and style. Remember, we pray when we have an honest conversation with God.

#### PRAYERS OF THANKS AND CONFESSIONS

Although our requests will often form the larger part of our prayers, it is important not to neglect to bring to God our worship, thanks and confessions.

There is a prayer of confession on page 134 and on pages 146-147 there is a list of some favourite psalms of praise which can help us to worship God.

# FOR WHILE I AM AWAY FROM HOME

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I often feel lonely despite being part of such a large team. It is hard having long periods away from family, separated from those you long to spend every moment with.

Please help me to remember that I am never separated from You. Help me to know that You are with me and please comfort and strengthen me in my loneliness.

And, Father, help me never to forget that the separation is just as hard for my partner and our children. Please keep them safe. I pray that You will give my partner the energy and strength to cope with the children and the wisdom to train them in godly ways. Please protect our children from bad influences and unhealthy friendships.

In Jesus' Name.

# FOR MY SQUADRON OR ESTABLISHMENT

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I pray for everyone with whom I serve. Please help us to work well together, always supporting each other. Help us to avoid petty arguments and acts of selfishness.

I pray for those who are finding life tough in whatever area of their life it may be. I pray that You will help them to act wisely as they look for a solution. Please guard them against hasty and unwise decisions.

Specifically, I pray for ... (name your friends and their needs).

Father God, I pray for Your help to those in command. I pray that their leadership will be respected and will create harmony and good teamwork amongst us all. And please help me always to be quick to respect and encourage others and always slow to find fault in others.

In Jesus' Name.

## FOR WHILE ENGAGED ON OPERATIONS

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

Please protect us when deployed on training, on exercises and operations; the many dangers ranging from difficult weather to enemy fire. Please keep me and my Oppos safe. Help me never to forget that You are able to control the weather and even the people who would want to harm us.

Please help us to be alert at all times, never exposing ourselves to unnecessary danger, yet never failing to fulfil our duty.

Father, I pray for the Commanding Officer and the Command. Please give them the wisdom and skills to properly assess the risks which we face and to choose the right strategies and tactics to employ.

I pray these things too for those serving elsewhere, especially in even more dangerous situations and, in particular, in ....(name the areas or conflicts).

In Jesus' Name.

## FOR OTHER SQUADRONS AND ESTABLISHMENTS

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

As I have prayed for my family, myself and my colleagues, so I pray for all who serve in the Royal Air Force, in whatever capacity. I pray for their welfare and their safety and protection.

I pray particularly, Father, that You will watch over and protect all the men and women currently deployed on hazardous operations and exercises. Please equip those in Command for the risks they have to assess and the tough decisions they face.

I pray that You will grant peace to the families of these men and women, concerned as they will be for their loved one.

Please also help all the chaplains as they provide pastoral support and especially those who themselves are serving in areas of high risk at the present time.

In Jesus' Name.

# A PRAYER FOR THOSE IN COMMAND

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I pray for all who hold a position of command. Please enable them to lead well by example. Grant them courage when faced with danger, wisdom when faced with difficult decisions, humility when needing advice from others and the strength to persevere when things go wrong.

Father, I pray that their leadership will be an inspiration to the men and women under their command who, in turn, will respect their authority. I pray, too, for good supportive relationships with all who serve under them.

And Father, as they have their own struggles and anxieties as we all do, I pray that they will acknowledge You and seek Your help when they need it.

In Jesus' Name.

# FOR THE COUNTRY'S SECURITY

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I pray that You will guide and grant wisdom to all who have responsibility for setting our country's defence policies; for the Government ministers; for their advisers and for the intelligence agencies.

I pray, too, for the heads of our armed forces, and for those appointed to the highest ranks to support them, as they implement our defence policies and determine how best to use their resources.

But, Father God, we acknowledge that You alone know everything. You are aware of all the plans of evil men scheming to create terror and destruction. We ask that, in Your mercy, You will be the defender of our nation and protect all men and women engaged in the defence of our country.

In Jesus' Name.

# FOR THOSE RECOVERING FROM INJURIES

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I pray for all men and women having to face the consequences, as well as the pain, of injuries suffered while on duty.

I pray for those currently undergoing rehabilitation; for those left with permanent disabilities and for those still struggling to come to terms with their injuries. I pray that they will look to You for Your help and comfort. As they displayed courage in serving, so I ask that You will grant to them the courage they need to face the challenges ahead. Please bring alongside them people who can support them effectively.

I pray, too, that You will help their families and friends who share their pain and struggles.

In Jesus' Name.

# FOR THOSE WHO ARE GRIEVING

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I pray for all who are grieving the loss of a loved one, especially those who have died while serving their country.

I pray that the bravery of their loved one may bring a measure of comfort to those devastated by their loss. I ask that You will unite families in their grief and enable parents, brothers and sisters, children and the wider family to support one another.

Most importantly, Father, I ask that You will draw them to Yourself so that they might find, in You, the comfort and strength and peace which You alone can provide. Please keep them close to You as they journey through the dark valley of grief.

In Jesus' Name.

# A PRAYER FOR VICTIMS OF CONFLICT

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I pray for all victims of conflict; for those who have suffered serious injuries; for those who have lost loved ones and especially for children who have lost parents; for those facing starvation; for those who have lost their homes; for those who have fled their countries and are now labelled as 'refugees'; for those who live in fear and may have lost all hope of a secure future.

Father, please have mercy on them. Please show them that You are a God of love and compassion. Please equip and guide those who are working to meet their needs and to bring healing and to restore hope.

I pray that not only will their physical and emotional needs be met but, also, that they will discover for themselves the hope for eternity which can be found in Jesus alone.

In Jesus' Name.

# FOR THOSE WORKING FOR PEACE

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I remember Jesus' words, 'Blessed are the peacemakers...'1
I pray for all peacemakers. I pray for all those striving to establish peace and reconciliation where there is conflict and for those working to maintain peace where it is under threat.

For those currently engaged in negotiating peace, I pray that You will give them wisdom, patience, courage and the appropriate skills as they seek to be mediators. And for those leaders who seem intent on pursuing acts of hostility and destruction, I pray that You will cause them to look for peaceful solutions to their grievances.

I especially pray that You will have mercy on the countries of (name the countries) and restore peace to those nations.

In Jesus' Name.

## FOR MY FAMILY AND FRIENDS IN SPECIAL NEED

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I pray for those of my family and friends who are in special need of Your help: for those worried about their own health or the health of family members; for those who have been through a painful breakdown of a relationship or facing that possibility; for those struggling to manage their finances; for those needing employment; for those facing hard decisions.

I pray particularly for .... (name your friends and their needs).

Father, where it is possible, please enable the healing of body and mind and the restoring of relationships. And please help with the finding of solutions for those with money problems and those without jobs. And please grant wisdom to those who especially need it for the decisions they have to make.

In Jesus' Name.

#### FOR ME AS I PREPARE TO LEAVE

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

Inevitably I have mixed feelings as my time in the RAF draws to an end. There have been some really tough times – and some scary times – but it has been a great experience and I know that the Air Force was absolutely the right decision for me. But I am also sure that it is right to leave now.

Father, please help me not to be anxious as I face such a big change in my life. I am well aware that the adjustment to civilian life can be incredibly hard. Please help me with all the decisions I have to make.

And I pray for my family too. Please help them to accept the changes which will affect all of us.

In Jesus' Name.

### A PRAYER I AM SORRY

#### DEAR FATHER GOD

I confess that what I did (or said) was wrong. (State what it was you did or said.) I am really sorry. I just wish that I had not acted so hastily. If I had taken time to think about what was happening, I am sure I would have dealt with it differently. But it is too late now.

Father God, please help me to decide how I should try to make amends to ... (name the person). Please help them to accept my apology and to be able to forgive me.

And I realise that I have also hurt You and I need You to forgive me too, please. Thank You.

In Jesus' Name.

#### AMEN

#### **Notes:**

The Bible tells us, 'If we confess our sins, he is faithful and just and will forgive us our sins and purify us from all unrighteousness.' (1 John 1:9)

Two helpful Psalms concerning confession and forgiveness are Psalms 32 and 51.

### A PRAYER THE LORD'S PRAYER

#### **OUR FATHER IN HEAVEN**

hallowed be Your Name,
Your kingdom come,
Your will be done,
on earth as it is in heaven.
Give us today our daily bread.
Forgive us our sins
as we forgive those who sin against us.
Lead us not into temptation
but deliver us from evil.
For the kingdom, the power,
and the glory are Yours
now and for ever.

#### **AMEN**

#### **Notes:**

Jesus taught His disciples this prayer for them to use as a pattern for their own prayers. See Matthew 6:9-13.

### **PSALMS**

### **PSALMS**TO HELP US IN OUR STRUGGLES

Psalm 91, widely known as the Soldier's Psalm (or Prayer)

#### God can protect us and defend us

Whoever dwells in the shelter of the Most High will rest in the shadow of the Almighty,
I will say of the LORD, 'He is my refuge and my fortress, my God, in whom I trust.'

Surely he will save you from the fowler's snare and from the deadly pestilence.

He will cover you with his feathers, and under his wings you will find refuge; his faithfulness will be your shield and rampart.

You will not fear the terror of night,
nor the arrow that flies by day,
nor the pestilence that stalks in the darkness,
nor the plague that destroys at midday.

A thousand may fall at your side, ten thousand at your right hand, but it will not come near you. You will only observe with your eyes and see the punishment of the wicked.

If you say, 'The Lord is my refuge,' and you make the Most High your dwelling, no harm will overtake you, no disaster will come near your tent. For he will command his angels concerning you to quard you in all your ways; they will lift you up in their hands, so that you will not strike your foot against a stone. You will tread on the lion and the cobra: you will trample the great lion and the serpent. 'Because he loves me,' says the Lord, 'I will rescue him; I will protect him, for he acknowledges my name. He will call on me, and I will answer him; I will be with him in trouble. I will deliver him and honour him. With long life I will satisfy him and show him my salvation.' Psalm 91

### **PSALMS**TO HELP US IN OUR STRUGGLES

#### The LORD is able to keep us safe

In peace I will lie down and sleep, for you alone, LORD, make me dwell in safety. Psalm 4:8

#### The LORD is totally dependable

The LORD is a refuge for the oppressed, a stronghold in times of trouble.

Those who know your name trust in you, for you, LORD, have never forsaken those who seek you. 
Psalm 9:9,10

#### God hears when we cry out

In my distress I called to the LORD; I cried to my God for help. From his temple he heard my voice; my cry came before him, into his ears.

He reached down from on high and took hold of me; he drew me out of deep waters.

Psalm 18:6,16

#### The LORD is like a shepherd

The LORD is my shepherd, I lack nothing.

He makes me lie down in green pastures, he leads me beside quiet waters, he refreshes my soul.

He guides me along the right paths for his name's sake.

Even though I walk through the darkest valley,

I will fear no evil, for you are with me; your rod and your staff, they comfort me.

You prepare a table before me in the presence of my enemies.
You anoint my head with oil; my cup overflows.
Surely your goodness and love will follow me all the days of my life, and I will dwell in the house of the LORD forever.

Psalm 23

### **PSALMS**TO HELP US IN OUR STRUGGLES

#### The LORD's love never fails

We wait in hope for the LORD;
he is our help and our shield.
In him our hearts rejoice,
for we trust in his holy name.
May your unfailing love be with us, LORD,
even as we put our hope in you.

Psalm 33:20-22

#### The LORD cares for the brokenhearted

The righteous cry out, and the LORD hears them; he delivers them from all their troubles.

The LORD is close to the brokenhearted and saves those who are crushed in spirit.

Psalm 34:17,18

#### God is always ready to help us

God is our refuge and strength, an ever-present help in trouble.

Therefore we will not fear, though the earth give way and the mountains fall into the heart of the sea, though its waters roar and foam and the mountains quake with their surging.

Psalm 46:1-3

#### God can rescue us

I waited patiently for the LORD; he turned to me and heard my cry. He lifted me out of the slimy pit, out of the mud and mire: he set my feet on a rock and gave me a firm place to stand. He put a new song in my mouth, a hymn of praise to our God. Many will see and fear the LORD and put their trust in him. Psalm 40:1-3

#### God can be our refuge

Yes, my soul, find rest in God; my hope comes from him. Truly he is my rock and my salvation; he is my fortress, I will not be shaken. My salvation and my honour depend on God; he is my mighty rock, my refuge. Trust in him at all times, you people; pour out your hearts to him, for God is our refuge.

Psalm 62:5-8

### **PSALMS**TO HELP US IN OUR STRUGGLES

#### The LORD watches over us constantly

I lift up my eyes to the mountains – where does my help come from?

My help comes from the Lord, the Maker of heaven and earth.

He will not let your foot slip – he who watches over you will not slumber; indeed, he who watches over Israel will neither slumber nor sleep.

Psalm 121:1-4

#### The LORD hears our cries and forgives us

Out of the depths I cry to you, LORD; Lord, hear my voice. Let your ears be attentive to my cry for mercy.

If you, LORD, kept a record of sins, Lord, who could stand? But with you there is forgiveness, so that we can, with reverence, serve you. Psalm 130:1-4

#### The LORD knows all about us...

You have searched me, LORD, and you know me.
You know when I sit and when I rise; you perceive my thoughts from afar.
You discern my going out and my lying down; you are familiar with all my ways.
Before a word is on my tongue you, LORD, know it completely.
You hem me in behind and before, and you lay your hand upon me.
Such knowledge is too wonderful for me, too lofty for me to attain.

#### ...and He is always with us

Where can I go from your Spirit?
Where can I flee from your presence?
If I go up to the heavens, you are there;
if I make my bed in the depths, you are there.
If I rise on the wings of the dawn,
if I settle on the far side of the sea,
even there your hand will guide me,
your right hand will hold me fast.

Psalm 139:1-10

### PSALMS TO HELP US THANK AND WORSHIP GOD

A key purpose of the Psalms is to help us to worship God. The following are some of the most widely held favourite psalms of praise (with the first line).

#### Psalm 8

LORD, our Lord, how majestic is your name in all the earth!

#### Psalm 30

I will exalt you, LORD,

#### Psalm 34

I will extol the LORD at all times;

#### Psalm 66

Shout for joy to God, all the earth!

#### Psalm 92

It is good to praise the LORD

#### Psalm 95

Come, let us sing for joy to the LORD;

#### Psalm 96

Sing to the LORD a new song; sing to the LORD, all the earth.

#### Psalm 98

Sing to the LORD a new song, for he has done marvellous things;

#### Psalm 100

Shout for joy to the LORD, all the earth.

#### Psalm 103

Praise the LORD, my soul;

#### Psalm 138

I will praise you, LORD, with all my heart;

#### Psalm 145

I will exalt you, my God the King; I will praise your name for ever and ever.

#### **Naval & Military Bible Society**



The Society believes in the power of God's Word. Established in 1779, it exists to provide support to military and service personnel and seafarers personnel globally through the provision of Bibles and other Christian resources.

Unit 24, Shrivenham Hundred Business Park Near Manor Road, Watchfield Wiltshire, SN6 8TZ, United Kingdom

> Website: www.nmbs.org.uk Contact: enquiries@nmbs.org.uk

Charity Number: 1102593 Company Number: 05021052



#### Other resources from BeaconLight



A free, unique, expository devotional email which allows the Bible to energise your working day. It is read by over 30,000 people in 198 countries.

A straightforward and engaging way to learn how to explain the gospel clearly and lead people to Christ without fudging or forcing.





This explains what it really means to forgive and, most importantly, how we can receive God's forgiveness.

A workbook of 16 essential Bible studies to help you unlock the truth of God's Word.





150 High Street Banstead Surrey SM7 2NZ Email: books@beaconlight.co.uk Phone: 01737 357103

#### INNER STRUGGLES

Life is a mixture of happiness and pain; of laughter and tears; of celebration and grief; of soaring and crawling.

For some, life brings more joy than sorrow; for others, life is hard with only rare moments of real joy. For us all there are times when we struggle.

This book uses verses from the Bible as a means of offering hope and comfort to those who recognise their need of God's help in their struggles.

This edition has been specially produced in association with the **Naval and Military Bible Society** for the benefit of members of the Royal Air Force.





